ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-190688

THE STATE,

Appellant,

vs.

ROBERT STEVE JOLLY,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

SEP 04 2012

SC COURT OF APPEALS

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge commit reversible error by dismissing two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses based on an alleged double jeopardy violation where the elements of the indicted offense of obtaining property by false pretenses were distinctly different from the elements of Jolly's earlier offense of criminal contempt and each of those offenses required proof of a fact the other did not?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 12, 2009, the Honorable J. Michael Baxley, circuit court judge, issued an order directing Respondent Robert Steve Jolly to appear for a hearing and show cause as to why he should not be sanctioned, held in contempt, and dismissed from further involvement in a number of pending cases. A hearing was conducted on the order on April 16, 2009. On May 4, 2009, Judge Baxley issued an order holding Jolly in criminal contempt of court and sentencing him to a term of incarceration of six months. Later that month, the Horry County grand jury indicted Jolly for one count of unauthorized practice of law. In July of 2009, the Horry County grand jury additionally indicted Jolly for five counts of obtaining property by false pretenses. On April 12, 2011, a jury trial was commenced in the Horry County court of general sessions before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, circuit court judge. Prior to trial, Jolly moved to dismiss the indictments based on an allegation of a double jeopardy violation. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial judge granted Jolly's motion to dismiss the indictments in respect to two counts of obtaining property by false pretenses and allowed the trial to proceed on the remaining indictments. Thereafter, the State timely appealed the trial judge's ruling dismissing the indictments, filing a notice of appeal on April 22, 2011. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Following a hearing in April of 2009, the Honorable J. Michael Baxley, circuit court judge, issued an order detailing his findings of fact regarding Respondent Robert Steve Jolly's involvement in a fraudulent mortgage scheme in which Jolly induced distressed homeowners to transfer their mortgaged property and homes to him through the filing of quitclaim deeds. (R. pp. 51-52). Judge Baxley determined Jolly represented to the victims he would pay off the mortgages on their behalf once they transferred their property to him and instructed the victims to submit their future mortgage payments to him as opposed to the original mortgage holders. (R. pp. 52-53). He found Jolly's fraudulent scheme resulted in the filing of numerous foreclosure actions against the victims' property, resulting in a risk of the victims being evicted from their homes. (R. pp. 54-55). Judge Baxley further noted Jolly repeatedly filed frivolous documents in an effort to impede the orderly disposition of the pending foreclosure actions and elicited testimony evincing a "remarkable lack of candor" from witnesses appearing on his behalf during the April hearing. (R. pp. 55-57).

Based on his "consideration of the evidence, the testimony of the witnesses, Defendant Jolly's conduct before the Court[,] and his conduct in the Foreclosure Actions," Judge Baxley concluded Jolly's conduct interfered with the orderly adjudication of numerous foreclosure actions, constituted the perpetration of a fraud upon the court, constituted an affront to the integrity of the judicial process, interfered with judicial proceedings, exhibited disrespect for the Court, hampered the parties and witnesses, and evinced an intention on Jolly's part to obstruct, degrade, and undermine the administration of justice. (R. p. 51; pp. 55-56). Accordingly, Judge Baxley held Jolly's orchestration of the fraudulent mortgage scheme, Jolly's submission of frivolous

court filings, and Jolly's conduct during the April hearing constituted direct contempt of court. (R. pp. 56-57). As a result, Judge Baxley sanctioned Jolly for criminal contempt, sentenced him to a term of imprisonment of six months, and issued an injunction against Jolly and his company. (R. pp. 57-58).

Subsequently, based on his involvement in the fraudulent mortgage scheme, Jolly was indicted for five counts of obtaining property by false pretenses and one count of unauthorized practice of law, and he proceeded to trial. (R. p. 2; pp. 72-83). Prior to trial, Jolly moved to dismiss the indictments based on an alleged double jeopardy violation. (R. p. 7). In support of the motion, Jolly contended he had previously been held in contempt in May of 2009 in an order outlining the same facts relied upon in the current prosecution. (R. p. 7). Jolly claimed the contempt order already punished him for the same actions he was now indicted for, and he asserted he could not be punished for the same conduct twice pursuant to the Double Jeopardy Clause. (R. p. 7). For those reasons, Jolly argued the case could not properly go forward. (R. pp. 8-9).

In rebuttal, the State argued Judge Baxley's order determined Jolly engaged in a fraud upon the court, evinced an intention to obstruct the administration of justice, and interfered with judicial proceedings. (R. p. 10). The State further pointed out Jolly was found in contempt for his actions both prior to and during the hearing before Judge Baxley. (R. p. 13). Additionally, the State argued the elements of the offense of criminal contempt were distinctly different from the elements of the offenses of unauthorized practice of law and obtaining property by false pretenses. (R. pp. 13-14). Relying on the Blockburger test announced by the United States Supreme Court, the State argued no double jeopardy violation occurred as the elements of the offenses were different. (R. p. 14).

After hearing the arguments from counsel, the trial judge indicated he needed to review Judge Baxley's contempt order. (R. p. 19). The trial judge noted Judge Baxley's order referenced the testimony of two of the victims, Ernest Mauck and Esther Reinhardt, and indicated he did not believe they could testify to the same thing they previously testified to without violating the Double Jeopardy Clause. (R. pp. 19-20). In response, the State argued the factual findings of Judge Baxley did not constitute the elements of the offenses. (R. p. 20). In reply, Jolly argued Judge Baxley's order found him in contempt for multiple reasons, including his orchestration of the fraudulent mortgage scheme, which he contended covered the indicted offenses and required the dismissal of the entire case. (R. pp. 22-23). The State again noted the elements of contempt and the other offenses were different and specifically identified the element of monetary value required for a conviction for obtaining property by false pretenses as an element not required for the imposition of contempt sanctions. (R. pp. 24-25).

The trial judge then denied Jolly's double jeopardy motion with respect to all of the indictments not involving the victims specifically referenced in Judge Baxley's order. (R. p. 26). However, the trial judge took the matter under advisement regarding the two indictments for Jolly's fraudulent conduct towards Mauck and Reinhardt.¹ (R. pp. 26-27). Subsequently, after considering Judge Baxley's order, the trial judge granted Jolly's double jeopardy motion regarding those two indictments. (R. p. 43). The trial judge ruled:

So I'm going to rule that Indictments 2009-GS-26-2948 and 2009-GS-26-2947 that deal with the Reinhardts and Ernest and Patricia Mauck and Esther and Larry Reinhardt, those are barred by double jeopardy because I think it's pretty clear that Judge Baxley sentenced Mr. Jolly to six months

¹ In the "Factual and Procedural Background" section of his order, Judge Baxley indicated Mauck and Reinhardt, two of the victims affected by the foreclosure actions, testified during the April hearing about their dealings with Jolly in relation to Jolly's fraudulent mortgage scheme. (R. pp. 50-51).

in prison for criminal contempt for several actions, part of the actions being the exact information that's contained in these indictments with regard to the Maucks and the Reinhardts that he obtained signatures on quit claim deeds, filed quit claim deeds, made promises to them that he was going to pay off mortgages and things of that nature. So since he's already served the six month sentence by Judge Baxley for that I'm going to rule that those two indictments are barred, prosecution of those two indictments are barred by double jeopardy.

(R. p. 43).

Thereafter, the State moved for reconsideration of the ruling, arguing Judge Baxley defined the elements of criminal contempt in his order and held Jolly in contempt for committing those elements. (R. p. 44). The trial judge denied the motion, noting he was going with the facts referenced in Judge Baxley's order and believed Judge Baxley already dealt with the actions covered by the dismissed indictments. (R. pp. 44-45). The State then timely appealed the trial judge's ruling dismissing the two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses.

ARGUMENT

Did the trial judge commit reversible error by dismissing two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses based on an alleged double jeopardy violation where the elements of the indicted offense of obtaining property by false pretenses were distinctly different from the elements of Jolly's earlier offense of criminal contempt and each of those offenses required proof of a fact the other did not?

Prior to trial, the trial judge erred in dismissing two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses on the basis of an alleged double jeopardy violation. The trial judge concluded Jolly's subsequent prosecution for the indicted offenses could not go forward because Jolly was previously held in criminal contempt for the same conduct giving rise to the indicted offense. This ruling was erroneous, particularly in light of the Supreme Court's recent decision in State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 713 S.E.2d 591 (2011). The only appropriate test for determining whether a double jeopardy violation has occurred involves strictly comparing the essential elements of the offenses and not comparing the conduct underlying those offenses. As the essential elements of obtaining property by false pretenses are markedly different from the essential elements of criminal contempt, no double jeopardy violation occurred in this case. Accordingly, the trial judge's ruling dismissing the indictments should be reversed and the previously-dismissed indictments should be reinstated.

Through their Double Jeopardy Clauses, the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution offer protection to citizens from being subjected to double jeopardy for the same offense. See U.S. Const. amend. V ("No person shall be . . . subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb . . ."); S.C. Const. art. I, § 12 ("No person shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or liberty . . ."). The guarantee against double jeopardy offers three separate constitutional protections: (1) protection against a second prosecution for the same

offense after acquittal; (2) protection against prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and (3) protection against multiple punishments for the same offense. State v. Cuccia, 353 S.C. 430, 434, 578 S.E.2d 45, 48 (Ct. App. 2003).

However, a single act can constitute multiple distinct offenses without subsequent indictment or punishment running afoul of the Double Jeopardy Clause. See State v. Moyd, 321 S.C. 256, 258, 468 S.E.2d 7, 9 (1996) (“A defendant may be severally indicted and punished for separate offenses without being placed in double jeopardy where a single act consists of two ‘distinct’ offenses.”). Multiple punishments and successive prosecutions are **not** prohibited where a different offense calls for proof of a fact another offense does not. Cuccia, 353 S.C. at 438, 578 S.E.2d at 49.

The traditional test for determining whether successive prosecutions are barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause was explained in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932). In Blockburger, the United States Supreme Court instructed: “The applicable rule is that, where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not.” Id. at 304. Accordingly, the Blockburger test “requires a technical comparison of the elements of the offense for which the defendant was first tried with the elements of the offense in the subsequent prosecution.” Moyd, 321 S.C. at 258, 468 S.E.2d at 9.

Notably, following the decision in Blockburger, the United States Supreme Court temporarily expanded the test for determining whether a double jeopardy violation has occurred with its opinion in Grady v. Corbin, 495 U.S. 508 (1990). Under that expanded approach, the Grady Court instructed the test from Blockburger must still be applied in a double jeopardy analysis. Id. at 520. However, in addition to applying the traditional

Blockburger test, the Grady Court held: “[T]he Double Jeopardy Clause bars any subsequent prosecution in which the government, to establish an essential element of an offense charged in that prosecution, will prove conduct that constitutes an offense for which the defendant has already been prosecuted.” Id. at 521. Critically though, the United States Supreme Court overruled Grady shortly thereafter in United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 704 (1993), and abandoned its “same-conduct” test.

Therefore, in light of the United States Supreme Court’s ruling in Dixon, “Blockburger remains as the *only* test of double jeopardy for successive prosecutions as well as for multiple punishments in a single prosecution” in South Carolina. Moyd, 321 S.C. at 259, 468 S.E.2d at 9 (italics in original); see also State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 131, 489 S.E.2d 617, 623 (1997) (“We hereby affirm the Court of Appeals’ abandonment of the Grady v. Corbin same conduct test.”). Thus, if a defendant’s conduct constitutes the elements of two distinct offenses, the defendant can be prosecuted for and convicted of two separate crimes arising from the same conduct without running afoul of the constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy. State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 482, 688 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2010).

Recently, in State v. Brandt, the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether the imposition of criminal contempt sanctions precluded a subsequent prosecution of the same defendant for criminal offenses arising from the same conduct upon which the contempt sanctions were based. Id., 393 S.C. at 536-537, 713 S.E.2d at 596. In Brandt’s case, Brandt presented a forged letter to his attorney during the discovery phase of a legal malpractice action, and the forged letter was introduced during a legal expert’s deposition. Id. at 530, 713 S.E.2d at 593. Subsequently, the letter was exposed as fraudulent. Id. at 531, 713 S.E.2d at 593. As a result, Brandt was found to be

in criminal contempt for perpetrating a fraud upon the Court and was sentenced to a term of imprisonment of six months. Id. Thereafter, Brandt was indicted for forgery and proceeded to trial. Id. at 532, 713 S.E.2d at 594. During trial, Brandt moved for the dismissal of his forgery indictment based on an alleged double jeopardy violation. Id. at 535, 713 S.E.2d at 596. The motion was denied, and Brandt was convicted of the offense of forgery. Id. at 535-536, 713 S.E.2d at 596.

On appeal, Brandt sought to have his forgery conviction overturned because he alleged the successive prosecution was barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause due to the fact he had earlier been subjected to contempt sanctions for the same conduct that gave rise to the forgery indictment. Id. at 536-537, 713 S.E.2d at 596. However, the Supreme Court rejected Brandt's argument, instructing that: "In order to apply the Blockburger analysis, it is necessary to examine the individual elements of the criminal contempt conviction and the forgery offense." Id. at 540, 713 S.E.2d at 598. After strictly applying the Blockburger test and comparing the general elements of forgery and criminal contempt, the Supreme Court determined each offense required proof of an element the other did not. Id. at 540-541, 713 S.E.2d at 598. For that reason, the Supreme Court ruled Brandt's forgery prosecution was not barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause even though he had been found in criminal contempt based on the same conduct. Id. at 540, 713 S.E.2d at 598-599.

In the case sub judice, the trial judge erred in dismissing the two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses. Critically, the trial judge failed to apply the Blockburger test, the only appropriate test for evaluating a claim of a double jeopardy violation, and neglected to strictly compare the elements of criminal contempt with the elements of obtaining property by false pretenses. If the trial judge had done so, a

comparison of the elements of the offenses establishes that each offense requires proof of an element the other does not. Therefore, since the elements of the offenses were markedly different from each other, Jolly's subsequent prosecution for obtaining property by false pretenses did not constitute a double jeopardy violation even though he was previously held in criminal contempt for related conduct. See id. at 541, 713 S.E.2d at 599 ("Accordingly, Brandt's subsequent prosecution for forgery did not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause as the prior criminal contempt conviction involved decidedly different elements."). Accordingly, the trial judge's ruling dismissing the indictments must be reversed and the indictments must be reinstated.

Looking to the elements of the offenses involved in Jolly's case, criminal contempt in an ordinary sense involves the commission of "offenses that are calculated to obstruct, degrade, and undermine the administration of justice."² Brandt v. Gooding, 368 S.C. 618, 628, 630 S.E.2d 259, 264 (2006). "A person may be found guilty of direct contempt if the conduct interferes with judicial proceedings, exhibits disrespect for the court, or hampers the parties or witnesses." Id.

Conversely, the offense of obtaining property by false pretenses occurs when a person by false pretense or representation either obtains the signature of a person to a written instrument or obtains from another person any chattel, money, valuable security, or other real or personal property with the intent to defraud a person of that property. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-240 ("A person who by false pretense or representation obtains the signature of a person to a written instrument or obtains from another person any chattel, money, valuable security, or other property, real or personal, with intent to cheat

² Judge Baxley applied our Supreme Court's definition of contempt from Brandt v. Gooding in the contempt order. (R. pp. 56-57).

and defraud a person of that property is guilty [of the offense of obtaining signature or property by false pretenses.]”). Thus, the statutory elements necessary for commission of the offense are: (1) obtaining a person’s signature or property; (2) by false pretense or representation; (3) with the intent to defraud. Id.

Comparing the elements of each of the offenses in Jolly’s case, criminal contempt does not require proof a defendant obtained a signature or any property in order to sustain a contempt conviction. Likewise, criminal contempt does not require proof of an intent to defraud and does not require proof the person used false pretense or a representation. Conversely, obtaining property by false pretenses does not require proof of actions calculated to obstruct, degrade, and undermine the administration of justice. Similarly, the offense does not require proof of conduct interfering with judicial proceedings, exhibiting disrespect for the court, or hampering parties or witnesses. Therefore, the essential elements necessary to sustain a conviction for each offense are separate and distinct from the essential elements required to prove the other. For this reason, Jolly’s subsequent prosecution for obtaining property by false pretenses was not precluded by the earlier imposition of criminal contempt sanctions. Cf. Brandt, 393 S.C. at 541, 713 S.E.2d at 598-599 (“We find each offense requires proof of a fact that the other does not. Specifically, the offense of forgery does not require any interference with judicial proceedings that is ‘calculated to obstruct, degrade, and undermine the administration of justice.’ In comparison, the commission of criminal contempt does not require the ‘uttering or publishing of a fraudulent document.’ Accordingly, Brandt’s subsequent prosecution for forgery did not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause as the prior criminal contempt conviction involved decidedly different elements.” (citations omitted)).

The trial judge improperly compared the specific facts of Jolly's conduct referenced in the contempt order and concluded Jolly's subsequent prosecution for obtaining property by false pretenses was based on the same conduct. However, the proper test for determining whether a double jeopardy violation has occurred involves a comparison of the elements of the offenses as opposed to a comparison of the underlying conduct involved in the offenses. See Dixon, 509 U.S. at 704 ("We have concluded, however, that Grady must be overruled. . . . The 'same-conduct' rule it announced is wholly inconsistent with earlier Supreme Court precedent and with the clear common-law understanding of double jeopardy."). An application of the proper test of comparing the elements of the offenses of criminal contempt and obtaining property by false pretenses establishes each offense has distinctly different essential elements and requires proof of a fact the other does not. Therefore, Jolly could properly be tried for obtaining property by false pretenses even though he had earlier been sanctioned for criminal contempt at least partially for conduct arising out of the same general chain of events. See State v. Pace, 337 S.C. 407, 417, 523 S.E.2d 466, 471 (Ct. App. 1999) ("Because each offense contains at least one element which must be proven by an additional fact that the other does not require, the trial court correctly held that Pace's conviction on both counts does not violate double jeopardy." (citations omitted)). Accordingly, the trial judge committed reversible error in dismissing the two obtaining property by false pretenses indictments. The trial judge's ruling should be reversed and the previously-dismissed indictments should be reinstated.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and ruling of the lower court be reversed and the previously-dismissed indictments be reinstated.