STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

ROBERT S. JOLLY,

RESPONDENT

Appellate Case No. 2011-190688

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT.

RECEIVED

SEP 20 2012

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge commit reversible error by dismissing two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses based on an alleged double jeopardy violation where the elements of the indicted offense of obtaining property by false pretenses were distinctly different from the elements of Jolly's earlier offense of criminal contempt and each of those offenses required proof of a fact the other did not?

COUNTER STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether trial judge Culbertson correctly dismissed two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses where Judge Baxley's prior finding of criminal contempt for respondent's actions with the homeowners merged with his finding of respondent's criminal contempt, in part, for the same actions of obtaining property by false pretenses that he enjoined respondent from participating in before he held the criminal contempt hearing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent agrees with appellant's statement of the case.

## ARGUMENT

Trial judge Culbertson correctly dismissed two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses where Judge Baxley's prior finding of criminal contempt for respondent's actions with the homeowners merged with his finding of respondent's criminal contempt, in part, for the same actions of obtaining property by false pretenses that he enjoined respondent from participating in before he held the criminal contempt hearing.

### **Relevant Facts**

On March 12, 2009, the Honorable J. Michael Baxley issued a notice of hearing and Rule to Show Cause ordering appellant Jolly, Randall Sain, Linda Sain "and any person connected in any way to Robert Jolly and Associates" to be present at a hearing and to retain counsel. R. 47. The hearing was held before Judge Baxley on April 16, 2009.<sup>1</sup>

In addition to the Attorney General's complaint against respondent for allegedly engaging in the unauthorized practice of law, the Attorney General's Office also filed a complaint alleging respondent was in violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act for his actions with handling the mortgages of Homeowners in arrears.

Almost two years later on April 12, 2011 respondent's case was called to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. J. Wesley Locklair, III represented respondent. R. 1.

The State called an indictment against respondent for the unauthorized practice of law and five separate indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses. R. 2, ll. 11-24.

---

<sup>1</sup> The duty judge for this court granted the State's Motion to Strike any reference to this hearing in the brief.

Defense counsel moved to dismiss in part based upon double jeopardy. Counsel noted respondent had been held in contempt at the April 16, 2009 hearing essentially for the facts alleged by the prosecution involving two of the alleged victims the “Maucks<sup>2</sup> and the Reinhardts.” Defense counsel also argued that Judge Baxley’s direct contempt order stated respondent had been involved in a scheme, filed frivolous pleadings and was involved in contempt for which he was sentence to six months in prison. R. 7, l. 18 – 11, l. 8.

The Assistant Attorney General noted that respondent tried to frivolously remove the case before Judge Baxley to Federal Court the day before the hearing, and he offered: “I would say it was the entirety of Mr. Jolly’s actions that day to Judge Baxley, the events, a contempt for the proceedings and for the court.” R. 11, l. 10 – 12, l. 24.

Judge Culbertson ruled he would have to carefully read Judge Baxley’s order before he could rule on the reason respondent was held in criminal contempt before he could rule on the double jeopardy issue. R. 19, l. 17 – 22, l. 16.

Defense counsel argued that respondent was held in contempt for his actions with homeowners, and the judge ultimately ruled he was going to deny the double jeopardy motion as to everyone *except possibly the indictments involving Mauck and Reinhardt*. He said that those two indictments were his only consideration as to the double jeopardy motion. R. 26, ll. 10-20. The judge then took a break to consider the matter. R. 27, ll. 9-18.

Subsequently, the judge ruled that the two indictments for obtaining property by false pretenses involving Mauck and the Reinhardts were barred by double jeopardy. The judge ruled that part of the reason respondent was held in direct and criminal contempt was

---

<sup>2</sup> Ernest Mauck’s surname is spelled two different ways in the transcripts: Mautk and Mauck. For ease of reference “Mauck” will be used throughout.

for the indictments involving the scheme with Mauck and the Reinhardts. R. 43, l. 3 – 46, l. 10.<sup>3</sup>

### **Discussion**

In Judge Baxley's Order for Temporary Injunction and Criminal Contempt filed on July 8, 2010, he found respondent in criminal contempt of court and sentenced him to six months imprisonment following the day in court on April 16, 2009. R. p. 48. The judge ruled that respondent's conduct deceived homeowners, and contributed to them having foreclosure actions currently pending and continuing against them. R. p. 66. The order also noted that respondent's conduct caused the Master in Equity to return over forty-five cases to the clerk of Common Pleas. R. p. 59.

The order also found respondent in contempt for interfering with the orderly adjudication of dozens of foreclosure actions. In addition, the order found respondent's preparation, execution, and improper notarization of quit claim deeds constituted a fraud upon the court. The court also wrote that "Defendant Jolly's decision to call Brewer [and Yura as witnesses at the April 16, 2009 hearing] and remarkable lack of candor in the testimony he elicited from them was an affront to the integrity of the judicial process and evidenced an intention to destruct, degrade, and undermine the administration of justice." R. p. 68.

---

<sup>3</sup> Although the trial judge said he would issue a written order, a written order was never written or filed. Undersigned counsel has spoken to opposing counsel who contacted the trial judge who informed the Attorney General's Office that no written order would be forthcoming and that his oral ruling was the only one in this case.

The order further stated that: “Defendant Jolly’s orchestration of the aforementioned Scheme, the Foreclosure Actions, and his conduct before the Court at the April 16th hearing has interfered with judicial proceedings, exhibited disrespect for the Court, and hampered parties and witnesses. Further, Defendant Jolly’s orchestration of the aforementioned Scheme, the Foreclosure Actions, and his conduct before the Court at the April 16th hearing was calculated to obstruct, degrade, and undermine the administration of justice.” R. p. 68.

Thus, respondent was held in direct criminal contempt, in part, because he obtained property from Homeowners under false pretenses. At issue here were Homeowners Mauck and the Reinhardts.

The State relies on State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 713 S.E.2d 591 (2011). In Brandt, the Supreme Court noted that because the federal court in Brandt v. Ozmint, 636 F.3d 124 (4th Cir. 2011), effectively vacated the defendant’s prior conviction he could no longer assert double jeopardy barred his subsequent forgery conviction after he had been found in direct contempt of court for submitting a false document in a medical malpractice action. The Court also noted the divergent rulings of the United States Supreme Court in United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688 (1993), which overruled Grady v. Corbin, 494 U.S. 508 (1990). See, State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. at 537, n. 5-6, 713 S.E.2d 591, 596, n. 5-6.

The Court in Brandt addressed the double jeopardy issue anyway. It found that because the offenses of direct criminal intent and forgery required proof of the fact the other does not need that Brandt’s subsequent prosecution for forgery did not violate the double jeopardy clause because they involved deciding different elements.

Here, Judge Baxley issued an injunction against respondent for the very actions that were the subject of the two indictments. He therefore took the extraordinary step of

enjoining respondent from engaging in the same conduct for which he was indicted in indictments 2009-GS-26-2947 and 2948 as they pertain to obtaining property by false pretences from the Reinhardts and Maucks. R. 45, ll. 1-23. There were several other indictments against respondent that were allowed to proceed by Judge Culbertson.

After issuing the injunction enjoining future criminal acts, Judge Baxley then held a contempt hearing at which he found appellant in direct contempt of court for his activities in obtaining property from these two witnesses and victims, Ernest Mautk and Ester Reinhardt. This Court can affirm for any reason appearing the record.